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Writing or written (see ‘‘in writing’’). 

[66 FR 2118, Jan. 10, 2001, as amended at 66 
FR 20896, Apr. 25, 2001; 66 FR 22083, May 2, 
2001; 66 FR 27012, May 15, 2001; 66 FR 27409, 
May 16, 2001; 66 FR 53484, 53486, 53488, Oct. 22, 
2001; 66 FR 65350, 65352, 65354, Dec. 18, 2001; 67 
FR 6114, Feb. 8, 2002; 67 FR 13055, Mar. 20, 
2002; 67 FR 42313, June 27, 2002; 67 FR 56121, 
Aug. 30, 2002; 67 FR 56118, Aug. 30, 2002]

Subpart 2.2—Definitions Clause
2.201 Contract clause. 

Insert the clause at 52.202–1, Defini-
tions, in solicitations and contracts 
that exceed the simplified acquisition 
threshold. If the contract is for per-
sonal services, construction, architect-
engineer services, or dismantling, dem-
olition, or removal of improvements, 
use the clause with its Alternate I. The 
contracting officer may include addi-
tional definitions, provided they are 
consistent with the clause and the 
FAR. 

[66 FR 2127, Jan. 10, 2001]

PART 3—IMPROPER BUSINESS 
PRACTICES AND PERSONAL 
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

Sec.
3.000 Scope of part.

Subpart 3.1—Safeguards

3.101 Standards of conduct. 
3.101–1 General. 
3.101–2 Solicitation and acceptance of gra-

tuities by Government personnel. 
3.101–3 Agency regulations. 
3.102 [Reserved] 
3.103 Independent pricing. 
3.103–1 Solicitation provision. 
3.103–2 Evaluating the certification. 
3.103–3 The need for further certifications. 
3.104 Procurement integrity. 
3.104–1 Definitions. 
3.104–2 General. 
3.104–3 Statutory and related prohibitions, 

restrictions, and requirements. 
3.104–4 Disclosure, protection, and marking 

of contractor bid or proposal information 
and source selection information. 

3.104–5 Disqualification. 
3.104–6 Ethics advisory opinions regarding 

prohibitions on a former official’s ac-
ceptance of compensation from a con-
tractor. 

3.104–7 Violations or possible violations. 
3.104–8 Criminal and civil penalties, and fur-

ther administrative remedies. 

3.104–9 Contract clauses.

Subpart 3.2—Contractor Gratuities to 
Government Personnel

3.201 Applicability. 
3.202 Contract clause. 
3.203 Reporting suspected violations of the 

Gratuities clause. 
3.204 Treatment of violations.

Subpart 3.3—Reports of Suspected Antitrust 
Violations

3.301 General. 
3.302 Definitions. 
3.303 Reporting suspected antitrust viola-

tions.

Subpart 3.4—Contingent Fees

3.400 Scope of subpart. 
3.401 Definitions. 
3.402 Statutory requirements. 
3.403 Applicability. 
3.404 Contract clause. 
3.405 Misrepresentations or violations of the 

Covenant Against Contingent Fees. 
3.406 Records.

Subpart 3.5—Other Improper Business 
Practices

3.501 Buying-in. 
3.501–1 Definition. 
3.501–2 General. 
3.502 Subcontractor kickbacks. 
3.502–1 Definitions. 
3.502–2 Subcontractor kickbacks. 
3.502–3 Contract clause. 
3.503 Unreasonable restrictions on subcon-

tractor sales. 
3.503–1 Policy. 
3.503–2 Contract clause.

Subpart 3.6—Contracts With Government 
Employees or Organizations Owned or 
Controlled by Them

3.601 Policy. 
3.602 Exceptions. 
3.603 Responsibilities of the contracting of-

ficer.

Subpart 3.7—Voiding and Rescinding 
Contracts

3.700 Scope of subpart. 
3.701 Purpose. 
3.702 Definition. 
3.703 Authority. 
3.704 Policy. 
3.705 Procedures.

Subpart 3.8—Limitation on the Payment of 
Funds to Influence Federal Transactions

3.800 Scope of subpart. 
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3.801 Definitions. 
3.802 Prohibitions. 
3.803 Certification and disclosure. 
3.804 Policy. 
3.805 Exemption. 
3.806 Processing suspected violations. 
3.807 Civil penalties. 
3.808 Solicitation provision and contract 

clause.

Subpart 3.9—Whistleblower Protections for 
Contractor Employees

3.900 Scope of subpart. 
3.901 Definitions. 
3.902 Applicability. 
3.903 Policy. 
3.904 Procedures for filing complaints. 
3.905 Procedures for investigating com-

plaints. 
3.906 Remedies.

AUTHORITY: 40 U.S.C. 486(c); 10 U.S.C. Chap-
ter 137; and 42 U.S.C. 2473(c).

SOURCE: 48 FR 42108, Sept. 19, 1983, unless 
otherwise noted.

3.000 Scope of part. 

This part prescribes policies and pro-
cedures for avoiding improper business 
practices and personal conflicts of in-
terest and for dealing with their appar-
ent or actual occurrence.

Subpart 3.1—Safeguards

3.101 Standards of conduct.

3.101–1 General. 

Government business shall be con-
ducted in a manner above reproach 
and, except as authorized by statute or 
regulation, with complete impartiality 
and with preferential treatment for 
none. Transactions relating to the ex-
penditure of public funds require the 
highest degree of public trust and an 
impeccable standard of conduct. The 
general rule is to avoid strictly any 
conflict of interest or even the appear-
ance of a conflict of interest in Govern-
ment-contractor relationships. While 
many Federal laws and regulations 
place restrictions on the actions of 
Government personnel, their official 
conduct must, in addition, be such that 
they would have no reluctance to make 
a full public disclosure of their actions.

3.101–2 Solicitation and acceptance of 
gratuities by Government per-
sonnel. 

As a rule, no Government employee 
may solicit or accept, directly or indi-
rectly, any gratuity, gift, favor, enter-
tainment, loan, or anything of mone-
tary value from anyone who (a) has or 
is seeking to btain Government busi-
ness with the employee’s agency, (b) 
conducts activities that are regulated 
by the employee’s agency, or (c) has in-
terests that may be substantially af-
fected by the performance or non-
performance of the employee’s official 
duties. Certain limited exceptions are 
authorized in agency regulations.

3.101–3 Agency regulations. 

(a) Agencies are required by Execu-
tive Order 11222 of May 8, 1965, and 5 
CFR part 735 to prescribe Standards of 
Conduct. These agency standards con-
tain— 

(1) Agency-authorized exceptions to 
3.101–2; and 

(2) Disciplinary measures for persons 
violating the standards of conduct. 

(b) Requirements for employee finan-
cial disclosure and restrictions on pri-
vate employment for former Govern-
ment employees are in Office of Per-
sonnel Management and agency regula-
tions implementing Public Law 95–521, 
which amended 18 U.S.C. 207.

3.102 [Reserved]

3.103 Independent pricing.

3.103–1 Solicitation provision. 

The contracting officer shall insert 
the provision at 52.203–2, Certificate of 
Independent Price Determination, in 
solicitations when a firm-fixed-price 
contract or fixed-price contract with 
economic price adjustment is con-
templated, unless— 

(a) The acquisition is to be made 
under the simplified acquisition proce-
dures in part 13; 

(b) [Reserved] 
(c) The solicitation is a request for 

technical proposals under two-step 
sealed bidding procedures; or 
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(d) The solicitation is for utility 
services for which rates are set by law 
or regulation. 

[48 FR 42108, Sept. 19, 1983, as amended at 50 
FR 1727, Jan. 11, 1985; 50 FR 52429, Dec. 23, 
1985; 55 FR 25526, June 21, 1990; 60 FR 34744, 
July 3, 1995]

3.103–2 Evaluating the certification. 
(a) Evaluation guidelines. (1) None of 

the following, in and of itself, con-
stitutes disclosure as it is used in sub-
paragraph (a)(2) of the Certificate of 
Independent Price Determination 
(hereafter, the certificate): 

(i) The fact that a firm has published 
price lists, rates, or tariffs covering 
items being acquired by the Govern-
ment. 

(ii) The fact that a firm has informed 
prospective customers of proposed or 
pending publication of new or revised 
price lists for items being acquired by 
the Government. 

(iii) The fact that a firm has sold the 
same items to commercial customers 
at the same prices being offered to the 
Government. 

(2) For the purpose of subparagraph 
(b)(2) of the certificate, an individual 
may use a blanket authorization to act 
as an agent for the person(s) respon-
sible for determining the offered prices 
if— 

(i) The proposed contract to which 
the certificate applies is clearly within 
the scope of the authorization; and 

(ii) The person giving the authoriza-
tion is the person within the offeror’s 
organization who is responsible for de-
termining the prices being offered at 
the time the certification is made in 
the particular offer. 

(3) If an offer is submitted jointly by 
two or more concerns, the certification 
provided by the representative of each 
concern applies only to the activities 
of that concern. 

(b) Rejection of offers suspected of being 
collusive. (1) If the offeror deleted or 
modified subparagraph (a)(1) or (a)(3) 
or paragraph (b) of the certificate, the 
contracting officer shall reject the 
offeror’s bid or proposal. 

(2) If the offeror deleted or modified 
subparagraph (a)(2) of the certificate, 
the offeror must have furnished with 
its offer a signed statement of the cir-
cumstances of the disclosure of prices 

contained in the bid or proposal. The 
chief of the contracting office shall re-
view the altered certificate and the 
statement and shall determine, in writ-
ing, whether the disclosure was made 
for the purpose or had the effect of re-
stricting competition. If the deter-
mination is positive, the bid or pro-
posal shall be rejected; if it is negative, 
the bid or proposal shall be considered 
for award. 

(3) Whenever an offer is rejected 
under subparagraph (1) or (2) above, or 
the certificate is suspected of being 
false, the contracting officer shall re-
port the situation to the Attorney Gen-
eral in accordance with 3.303. 

(4) The determination made under 
subparagraph (2) above shall not pre-
vent or inhibit the prosecution of any 
criminal or civil actions involving the 
occurrences or transactions to which 
the certificate relates. 

[48 FR 42108, Sept. 19, 1983, as amended at 55 
FR 25526, June 21, 1990]

3.103–3 The need for further certifi-
cations. 

A contractor that properly executed 
the certificate before award does not 
have to submit a separate certificate 
with each proposal to perform a work 
order or similar ordering instrument 
issued pursuant to the terms of the 
contract, where the Government’s re-
quirements cannot be met from an-
other source.

3.104 Procurement integrity.

3.104–1 Definitions. 

As used in this section— 
Agency ethics official means the des-

ignated agency ethics official described 
in 5 CFR 2638.201 or other designated 
person, including— 

(1) Deputy ethics officials described 
in 5 CFR 2638.204, to whom authority 
under 3.104–6 has been delegated by the 
designated agency ethics official; and 

(2) Alternate designated agency eth-
ics officials described in 5 CFR 
2638.202(b). 

Compensation means wages, salaries, 
honoraria, commissions, professional 
fees, and any other form of compensa-
tion, provided directly or indirectly for
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services rendered. Compensation is in-
directly provided if it is paid to an en-
tity other than the individual, specifi-
cally in exchange for services provided 
by the individual. 

Contractor bid or proposal information 
means any of the following information 
submitted to a Federal agency as part 
of or in connection with a bid or pro-
posal to enter into a Federal agency 
procurement contract, if that informa-
tion has not been previously made 
available to the public or disclosed 
publicly: 

(1) Cost or pricing data (as defined by 
10 U.S.C. 2306a(h)) with respect to pro-
curements subject to that section, and 
section 304A(h) of the Federal Property 
and Administrative Services Act of 1949 
(41 U.S.C. 254b(h)), with respect to pro-
curements subject to that section. 

(2) Indirect costs and direct labor 
rates. 

(3) Proprietary information about 
manufacturing processes, operations, 
or techniques marked by the con-
tractor in accordance with applicable 
law or regulation. 

(4) Information marked by the con-
tractor as ‘‘contractor bid or proposal 
information’’ in accordance with appli-
cable law or regulation. 

(5) Information marked in accord-
ance with 52.215–1(e). 

Decision to award a subcontract or 
modification of subcontract means a de-
cision to designate award to a par-
ticular source. 

Federal agency procurement means the 
acquisition (by using competitive pro-
cedures and awarding a contract) of 
goods or services (including construc-
tion) from non-Federal sources by a 
Federal agency using appropriated 
funds. For broad agency announce-
ments and small business innovative 
research programs, each proposal re-
ceived by an agency constitutes a sepa-
rate procurement for purposes of the 
Act. 

In excess of $10,000,000 means— 
(1) The value, or estimated value, at 

the time of award, of the contract, in-
cluding all options; 

(2) The total estimated value at the 
time of award of all orders under an in-
definite-delivery, indefinite-quantity, 
or requirements contract; 

(3) Any multiple award schedule con-
tract, unless the contracting officer 
documents a lower estimate; 

(4) The value of a delivery order, task 
order, or an order under a Basic Order-
ing Agreement; 

(5) The amount paid or to be paid in 
settlement of a claim; or 

(6) The estimated monetary value of 
negotiated overhead or other rates 
when applied to the Government por-
tion of the applicable allocation base. 

Official means— 
(1) An officer, as defined in 5 U.S.C. 

2104; 
(2) An employee, as defined in 5 

U.S.C. 2105; 
(3) A member of the uniformed serv-

ices, as defined in 5 U.S.C. 2101(3); or 
(4) A special Government employee, 

as defined in 18 U.S.C. 202. 
Participating personally and substan-

tially in a Federal agency procurement 
means— 

(1) Active and significant involve-
ment of an official in any of the fol-
lowing activities directly related to 
that procurement: 

(i) Drafting, reviewing, or approving 
the specification or statement of work 
for the procurement. 

(ii) Preparing or developing the solic-
itation. 

(iii) Evaluating bids or proposals, or 
selecting a source. 

(iv) Negotiating price or terms and 
conditions of the contract. 

(v) Reviewing and approving the 
award of the contract. 

(2) Participating personally means par-
ticipating directly, and includes the di-
rect and active supervision of a subor-
dinate’s participation in the matter. 

(3) Participating substantially means 
that the official’s involvement is of 
significance to the matter. Substantial 
participation requires more than offi-
cial responsibility, knowledge, perfunc-
tory involvement, or involvement on 
an administrative or peripheral issue. 
Participation may be substantial even 
though it is not determinative of the 
outcome of a particular matter. A find-
ing of substantiality should be based 
not only on the effort devoted to a 
matter, but on the importance of the 
effort. While a series of peripheral in-
volvements may be insubstantial, the 
single act of approving or participating 

VerDate 0ct<09>2002 11:17 Oct 21, 2002 Jkt 197193 PO 00000 Frm 00041 Fmt 8010 Sfmt 8010 Y:\SGML\197193T.XXX 197193T



42

48 CFR Ch. 1 (10–1–02 Edition)3.104–2 

in a critical step may be substantial. 
However, the review of procurement 
documents solely to determine compli-
ance with regulatory, administrative, 
or budgetary procedures, does not con-
stitute substantial participation in a 
procurement. 

(4) Generally, an official will not be 
considered to have participated person-
ally and substantially in a procure-
ment solely by participating in the fol-
lowing activities: 

(i) Agency-level boards, panels, or 
other advisory committees that review 
program milestones or evaluate and 
make recommendations regarding al-
ternative technologies or approaches 
for satisfying broad agency-level mis-
sions or objectives. 

(ii) The performance of general, tech-
nical, engineering, or scientific effort 
having broad application not directly 
associated with a particular procure-
ment, notwithstanding that such gen-
eral, technical, engineering, or sci-
entific effort subsequently may be in-
corporated into a particular procure-
ment. 

(iii) Clerical functions supporting the 
conduct of a particular procurement. 

(iv) For procurements to be con-
ducted under the procedures of OMB 
Circular A–76, participation in manage-
ment studies, preparation of in-house 
cost estimates, preparation of ‘‘most 
efficient organization’’ analyses, and 
furnishing of data or technical support 
to be used by others in the develop-
ment of performance standards, state-
ments of work, or specifications. 

Source selection evaluation board 
means any board, team, council, or 
other group that evaluates bids or pro-
posals. 

[67 FR 13059, Mar. 20, 2002]

3.104–2 General. 

(a) This section implements section 
27 of the Office of Federal Procurement 
Policy Act (the Procurement Integrity 
Act) (41 U.S.C. 423) referred to as ‘‘the 
Act’’). Agency supplementation of 
3.104, including specific definitions to 
identify individuals who occupy posi-
tions specified in 3.104–3(d)(1)(ii), and 
any clauses required by 3.104 must be 
approved by the senior procurement ex-
ecutive of the agency, unless a law es-

tablishes a higher level of approval for 
that agency. 

(b) Agency officials are reminded 
that there are other statutes and regu-
lations that deal with the same or re-
lated prohibited conduct, for example— 

(1) The offer or acceptance of a bribe 
or gratuity is prohibited by 18 U.S.C. 
201 and 10 U.S.C. 2207. The acceptance 
of a gift, under certain circumstances, 
is prohibited by 5 U.S.C. 7353 and 5 CFR 
part 2635; 

(2) Contacts with an offeror during 
the conduct of an acquisition may con-
stitute ‘‘seeking employment,’’(see 
subpart F of 5 CFR part 2636 and 3.104–
3(c)(2)). Government officers and em-
ployees (employees) are prohibited by 
18 U.S.C. 208 and 5 CFR part 2635 from 
participating personally and substan-
tially in any particular matter that 
would affect the financial interests of 
any person with whom the employee is 
seeking employment. An employee who 
engages in negotiations or is otherwise 
seeking employment with an offeror or 
who has an arrangement concerning fu-
ture employment with an offeror must 
comply with the applicable disquali-
fication requirements of 5 CFR 2635.604 
and 2635.606. The statutory prohibition 
in 18 U.S.C. 208 also may require an em-
ployee’s disqualification from partici-
pation in the acquisition even if the 
employee’s duties may not be consid-
ered ‘‘participating personally and sub-
stantially,’’ as this term is defined in 
3.104–1; 

(3) Post-employment restrictions are 
covered by 18 U.S.C. 207 and 5 CFR 
parts 2637 and 2641, that prohibit cer-
tain activities by former Government 
employees, including representation of 
a contractor before the Government in 
relation to any contract or other par-
ticular matter involving specific par-
ties on which the former employee par-
ticipated personally and substantially 
while employed by the Government. 
Additional restrictions apply to certain 
senior Government employees and for 
particular matters under an employee’s 
official responsibility; 

(4) Parts 14 and 15 place restrictions 
on the release of information related to 
procurements and other contractor in-
formation that must be protected 
under 18 U.S.C. 1905; 
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(5) Release of information both before 
and after award (see 3.104–4) may be 
prohibited by the Privacy Act (5 U.S.C. 
552a), the Trade Secrets Act (18 U.S.C. 
1905), and other laws; and 

(6) Using nonpublic information to 
further an employee’s private interest 
or that of another and engaging in a fi-
nancial transaction using nonpublic in-
formation are prohibited by 5 CFR 
2635.703. 

[67 FR 13059, Mar. 20, 2002]

3.104–3 Statutory and related prohibi-
tions, restrictions, and require-
ments. 

(a) Prohibition on disclosing procure-
ment information (subsection 27(a) of the 
Act). (1) A person described in para-
graph (a)(2) of this subsection must 
not, other than as provided by law, 
knowingly disclose contractor bid or 
proposal information or source selec-
tion information before the award of a 
Federal agency procurement contract 
to which the information relates. (See 
3.104–4(a).) 

(2) Paragraph (a)(1) of this subsection 
applies to any person who— 

(i) Is a present or former official of 
the United States, or a person who is 
acting or has acted for or on behalf of, 
or who is advising or has advised the 
United States with respect to, a Fed-
eral agency procurement; and 

(ii) By virtue of that office, employ-
ment, or relationship, has or had ac-
cess to contractor bid or proposal in-
formation or source selection informa-
tion. 

(b) Prohibition on obtaining procure-
ment information (subsection 27(b) of the 
Act). A person must not, other than as 
provided by law, knowingly obtain con-
tractor bid or proposal information or 
source selection information before the 
award of a Federal agency procurement 
contract to which the information re-
lates. 

(c) Actions required when an agency of-
ficial contacts or is contacted by an offer-
or regarding non-Federal employment 
(subsection 27(c) of the Act). (1) If an 
agency official, participating person-
ally and substantially in a Federal 
agency procurement for a contract in 
excess of the simplified acquisition 
threshold, contacts or is contacted by a 
person who is an offeror in that Fed-

eral agency procurement regarding 
possible non-Federal employment for 
that official, the official must— 

(i) Promptly report the contact in 
writing to the official’s supervisor and 
to the agency ethics official; and 

(ii) Either reject the possibility of 
non-Federal employment or disqualify 
himself or herself from further per-
sonal and substantial participation in 
that Federal agency procurement (see 
3.104–5) until such time as the agency 
authorizes the official to resume par-
ticipation in that procurement, in ac-
cordance with the requirements of 18 
U.S.C. 208 and applicable agency regu-
lations, because— 

(A) The person is no longer an offeror 
in that Federal agency procurement; or 

(B) All discussions with the offeror 
regarding possible non-Federal employ-
ment have terminated without an 
agreement or arrangement for employ-
ment. 

(2) A contact is any of the actions in-
cluded as ‘‘seeking employment’’ in 5 
CFR 2635.603(b). In addition, unsolicited 
communications from offerors regard-
ing possible employment are consid-
ered contacts. 

(3) Agencies must retain reports of 
employment contacts for 2 years from 
the date the report was submitted. 

(4) Conduct that complies with sub-
section 27(c) of the Act may be prohib-
ited by other criminal statutes and the 
Standards of Ethical Conduct for Em-
ployees of the Executive Branch. See 
3.104–2(b)(2). 

(d) Prohibition on former official’s ac-
ceptance of compensation from a con-
tractor (subsection 27(d) of the Act). (1) A 
former official of a Federal agency may 
not accept compensation from a con-
tractor that has been awarded a com-
petitive or sole source contract, as an 
employee, officer, director, or consult-
ant of the contractor within a period of 
1 year after such former official— 

(i) Served, at the time of selection of 
the contractor or the award of a con-
tract to that contractor, as the pro-
curing contracting officer, the source 
selection authority, a member of a 
source selection evaluation board, or 
the chief of a financial or technical 
evaluation team in a procurement in 
which that contractor was selected for 
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award of a contract in excess of 
$10,000,000; 

(ii) Served as the program manager, 
deputy program manager, or adminis-
trative contracting officer for a con-
tract in excess of $10,000,000 awarded to 
that contractor; or 

(iii) Personally made for the Federal 
agency a decision to— 

(A) Award a contract, subcontract, 
modification of a contract or sub-
contract, or a task order or delivery 
order in excess of $10,000,000 to that 
contractor; 

(B) Establish overhead or other rates 
applicable to a contract or contracts 
for that contractor that are valued in 
excess of $10,000,000; 

(C) Approve issuance of a contract 
payment or payments in excess of 
$10,000,000 to that contractor; or 

(D) Pay or settle a claim in excess of 
$10,000,000 with that contractor. 

(2) The 1-year prohibition begins on 
the date— 

(i) Of contract award for positions de-
scribed in paragraph (d)(1)(i) of this 
subsection, or the date of contractor 
selection if the official was not serving 
in the position on the date of award; 

(ii) The official last served in one of 
the positions described in paragraph 
(d)(1)(ii) of this subsection; or 

(iii) The official made one of the deci-
sions described in paragraph (d)(1)(iii) 
of this subsection. 

(3) Nothing in paragraph (d)(1) of this 
subsection may be construed to pro-
hibit a former official of a Federal 
agency from accepting compensation 
from any division or affiliate of a con-
tractor that does not produce the same 
or similar products or services as the 
entity of the contractor that is respon-
sible for the contract referred to in 
paragraph (d)(1) of this subsection. 

[67 FR 13059, Mar. 20, 2002]

3.104–4 Disclosure, protection, and 
marking of contractor bid or pro-
posal information and source selec-
tion information. 

(a) Except as specifically provided for 
in this subsection, no person or other 
entity may disclose contractor bid or 
proposal information or source selec-
tion information to any person other 
than a person authorized, in accord-
ance with applicable agency regula-

tions or procedures, by the agency head 
or the contracting officer to receive 
such information. 

(b) Contractor bid or proposal infor-
mation and source selection informa-
tion must be protected from unauthor-
ized disclosure in accordance with 
14.401, 15.207, applicable law, and agen-
cy regulations. 

(c) Individuals unsure if particular 
information is source selection infor-
mation, as defined in 2.101, should con-
sult with agency officials as necessary. 
Individuals responsible for preparing 
material that may be source selection 
information as described at paragraph 
(10) of the ‘‘source selection informa-
tion’’ definition in 2.101 must mark the 
cover page and each page that the indi-
vidual believes contains source selec-
tion information with the legend 
‘‘Source Selection Information—See 
FAR 2.101 and 3.104.’’ Although the in-
formation in paragraphs (1) through (9) 
of the definition in 2.101 is considered 
to be source selection information 
whether or not marked, all reasonable 
efforts must be made to mark such ma-
terial with the same legend. 

(d) Except as provided in paragraph 
(d)(3) of this subsection, the con-
tracting officer must notify the con-
tractor in writing if the contracting of-
ficer believes that proprietary informa-
tion, contractor bid or proposal infor-
mation, or information marked in ac-
cordance with 52.215–1(e) has been inap-
propriately marked. The contractor 
that has affixed the marking must be 
given an opportunity to justify the 
marking. 

(1) If the contractor agrees that the 
marking is not justified, or does not re-
spond within the time specified in the 
notice, the contracting officer may re-
move the marking and release the in-
formation. 

(2) If, after reviewing the contrac-
tor’s justification, the contracting offi-
cer determines that the marking is not 
justified, the contracting officer must 
notify the contractor in writing before 
releasing the information. 

(3) For technical data marked as pro-
prietary by a contractor, the con-
tracting officer must follow the proce-
dures in 27.404(h). 

(e) This section does not restrict or 
prohibit— 
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(1) A contractor from disclosing its 
own bid or proposal information or the 
recipient from receiving that informa-
tion; 

(2) The disclosure or receipt of infor-
mation, not otherwise protected, relat-
ing to a Federal agency procurement 
after it has been canceled by the Fed-
eral agency, before contract award, un-
less the Federal agency plans to re-
sume the procurement; 

(3) Individual meetings between a 
Federal agency official and an offeror 
or potential offeror for, or a recipient 
of, a contract or subcontract under a 
Federal agency procurement, provided 
that unauthorized disclosure or receipt 
of contractor bid or proposal informa-
tion or source selection information 
does not occur; or 

(4) The Government’s use of technical 
data in a manner consistent with the 
Government’s rights in the data. 

(f) This section does not authorize— 
(1) The withholding of any informa-

tion pursuant to a proper request from 
the Congress, any committee or sub-
committee thereof, a Federal agency, 
the Comptroller General, or an Inspec-
tor General of a Federal agency, except 
as otherwise authorized by law or regu-
lation. Any release containing con-
tractor bid or proposal information or 
source selection information must 
clearly identify the information as 
contractor bid or proposal information 
or source selection information related 
to the conduct of a Federal agency pro-
curement and notify the recipient that 
the disclosure of the information is re-
stricted by section 27 of the Act; 

(2) The withholding of information 
from, or restricting its receipt by, the 
Comptroller General in the course of a 
protest against the award or proposed 
award of a Federal agency procurement 
contract; 

(3) The release of information after 
award of a contract or cancellation of a 
procurement if such information is 
contractor bid or proposal information 
or source selection information that 
pertains to another procurement; or 

(4) The disclosure, solicitation, or re-
ceipt of bid or proposal information or 
source selection information after 
award if disclosure, solicitation, or re-

ceipt is prohibited by law. (See 3.104–
2(b)(5) and subpart 24.2.) 

[67 FR 13059, Mar. 20, 2002]

3.104–5 Disqualification. 
(a) Contacts through agents or other 

intermediaries. Employment contacts 
between the employee and the offeror, 
that are conducted through agents, or 
other intermediaries, may require dis-
qualification under 3.104–3(c)(1). These 
contacts may also require disqualifica-
tion under other statutes and regula-
tions. (See 3.104–2(b)(2).) 

(b) Disqualification notice. In addition 
to submitting the contact report re-
quired by 3.104–3(c)(1), an agency offi-
cial who must disqualify himself or 
herself pursuant to 3.104–3(c)(1)(ii) must 
promptly submit written notice of dis-
qualification from further participa-
tion in the procurement to the con-
tracting officer, the source selection 
authority if other than the contracting 
officer, and the agency official’s imme-
diate supervisor. As a minimum, the 
notice must— 

(1) Identify the procurement; 
(2) Describe the nature of the agency 

official’s participation in the procure-
ment and specify the approximate 
dates or time period of participation; 
and 

(3) Identify the offeror and describe 
its interest in the procurement. 

(c) Resumption of participation in a 
procurement. (1) The official must re-
main disqualified until such time as 
the agency, at its sole and exclusive 
discretion, authorizes the official to re-
sume participation in the procurement 
in accordance with 3.104–3(c)(1)(ii). 

(2) After the conditions of 3.104–
3(c)(1)(ii)(A) or (B) have been met, the 
head of the contracting activity (HCA), 
after consultation with the agency eth-
ics official, may authorize the disquali-
fied official to resume participation in 
the procurement, or may determine 
that an additional disqualification pe-
riod is necessary to protect the integ-
rity of the procurement process. In de-
termining the disqualification period, 
the HCA must consider any factors 
that create an appearance that the dis-
qualified official acted without com-
plete impartiality in the procurement. 
The HCA’s reinstatement decision 
should be in writing. 
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(3) Government officer or employee 
must also comply with the provisions 
of 18 U.S.C. 208 and 5 CFR part 2635 re-
garding any resumed participation in a 
procurement matter. Government offi-
cer or employee may not be reinstated 
to participate in a procurement matter 
affecting the financial interest of 
someone with whom the individual is 
seeking employment, unless the indi-
vidual receives— 

(i) A waiver pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 
208(b)(1) or (b)(3); or 

(ii) An authorization in accordance 
with the requirements of subpart F of 5 
CFR part 2635. 

[67 FR 13059, Mar. 20, 2002]

3.104–6 Ethics advisory opinions re-
garding prohibitions on a former of-
ficial’s acceptance of compensation 
from a contractor. 

(a) An official or former official of a 
Federal agency who does not know 
whether he or she is or would be pre-
cluded by subsection 27(d) of the Act 
(see 3.104–3(d)) from accepting com-
pensation from a particular contractor 
may request advice from the appro-
priate agency ethics official before ac-
cepting such compensation. 

(b) The request for an advisory opin-
ion must be in writing, include all rel-
evant information reasonably available 
to the official or former official, and be 
dated and signed. The request must in-
clude information about the— 

(1) Procurement(s), or decision(s) on 
matters under 3.104–3(d)(1)(iii), involv-
ing the particular contractor, in which 
the individual was or is involved, in-
cluding contract or solicitation num-
bers, dates of solicitation or award, a 
description of the supplies or services 
procured or to be procured, and con-
tract amount; 

(2) Individual’s participation in the 
procurement or decision, including the 
dates or time periods of that participa-
tion, and the nature of the individual’s 
duties, responsibilities, or actions; and 

(3) Contractor, including a descrip-
tion of the products or services pro-
duced by the division or affiliate of the 
contractor from whom the individual 
proposes to accept compensation. 

(c) Within 30 days after receipt of a 
request containing complete informa-
tion, or as soon thereafter as prac-

ticable, the agency ethics official 
should issue an opinion on whether the 
proposed conduct would violate sub-
section 27(d) of the Act. 

(d)(1) If complete information is not 
included in the request, the agency 
ethics official may ask the requester to 
provide more information or request 
information from other persons, in-
cluding the source selection authority, 
the contracting officer, or the request-
er’s immediate supervisor. 

(2) In issuing an opinion, the agency 
ethics official may rely upon the accu-
racy of information furnished by the 
requester or other agency sources, un-
less he or she has reason to believe 
that the information is fraudulent, 
misleading, or otherwise incorrect. 

(3) If the requester is advised in a 
written opinion by the agency ethics 
official that the requester may accept 
compensation from a particular con-
tractor, and accepts such compensation 
in good faith reliance on that advisory 
opinion, then neither the requester nor 
the contractor will be found to have 
knowingly violated subsection 27(d) of 
the Act. If the requester or the con-
tractor has actual knowledge or reason 
to believe that the opinion is based 
upon fraudulent, misleading, or other-
wise incorrect information, their reli-
ance upon the opinion will not be 
deemed to be in good faith. 

[67 FR 13059, Mar. 20, 2002]

3.104–7 Violations or possible viola-
tions. 

(a) A contracting officer who receives 
or obtains information of a violation or 
possible violation of subsection 27(a), 
(b), (c), or (d) of the Act (see 3.104–3) 
must determine if the reported viola-
tion or possible violation has any im-
pact on the pending award or selection 
of the contractor. 

(1) If the contracting officer con-
cludes that there is no impact on the 
procurement, the contracting officer 
must forward the information con-
cerning the violation or possible viola-
tion and documentation supporting a 
determination that there is no impact 
on the procurement to an individual 
designated in accordance with agency 
procedures. 
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(i) If that individual concurs, the 
contracting officer may proceed with 
the procurement. 

(ii) If that individual does not con-
cur, the individual must promptly for-
ward the information and documenta-
tion to the HCA and advise the con-
tracting officer to withhold award. 

(2) If the contracting officer con-
cludes that the violation or possible 
violation impacts the procurement, the 
contracting officer must promptly for-
ward the information to the HCA. 

(b) The HCA must review all informa-
tion available and, in accordance with 
agency procedures, take appropriate 
action, such as— 

(1) Advise the contracting officer to 
continue with the procurement; 

(2) Begin an investigation; 
(3) Refer the information disclosed to 

appropriate criminal investigative 
agencies; 

(4) Conclude that a violation oc-
curred; or 

(5) Recommend that the agency head 
determine that the contractor, or 
someone acting for the contractor, has 
engaged in conduct constituting an of-
fense punishable under subsection 27(e) 
of the Act, for the purpose of voiding or 
rescinding the contract. 

(c) Before concluding that an offeror, 
contractor, or person has violated the 
Act, the HCA may consider that the in-
terests of the Government are best 
served by requesting information from 
appropriate parties regarding the vio-
lation or possible violation. 

(d) If the HCA concludes that section 
27 of the Act has been violated, the 
HCA may direct the contracting officer 
to— 

(1) If a contract has not been award-
ed— 

(i) Cancel the procurement; 
(ii) Disqualify an offeror; or 
(iii) Take any other appropriate ac-

tions in the interests of the Govern-
ment. 

(2) If a contract has been awarded— 
(i) Effect appropriate contractual 

remedies, including profit recapture 
under the clause at 52.203–10, Price or 
Fee Adjustment for Illegal or Improper 
Activity, or, if the contract has been 
rescinded under paragraph(d)(2)(ii) of 
this subsection, recovery of the 
amount expended under the contract; 

(ii) Void or rescind the contract with 
respect to which— 

(A) The contractor or someone acting 
for the contractor has been convicted 
for an offense where the conduct con-
stitutes a violation of subsection 27(a) 
or (b) of the Act for the purpose of ei-
ther— 

(1) Exchanging the information cov-
ered by the subsections for anything of 
value; or 

(2) Obtaining or giving anyone a com-
petitive advantage in the award of a 
Federal agency procurement contract; 
or 

(B) The agency head has determined, 
based upon a preponderance of the evi-
dence, that the contractor or someone 
acting for the contractor has engaged 
in conduct constituting an offense pun-
ishable under subsection 27(e)(1) of the 
Act; or 

(iii) Take any other appropriate ac-
tions in the best interests of the Gov-
ernment. 

(3) Refer the matter to the agency 
suspending or debarring official. 

(e) The HCA should recommend or di-
rect an administrative or contractual 
remedy commensurate with the sever-
ity and effect of the violation. 

(f) If the HCA determines that urgent 
and compelling circumstances justify 
an award, or award is otherwise in the 
interests of the Government, the HCA, 
in accordance with agency procedures, 
may authorize the contracting officer 
to award the contract or execute the 
contract modification after notifying 
the agency head. 

(g) The HCA may delegate his or her 
authority under this subsection to an 
individual at least one organizational 
level above the contracting officer and 
of General Officer, Flag, Senior Execu-
tive Service, or equivalent rank. 

[67 FR 13059, Mar. 20, 2002]

3.104–8 Criminal and civil penalties, 
and further administrative rem-
edies. 

Criminal and civil penalties, and ad-
ministrative remedies, may apply to 
conduct that violates the Act (see 
3.104–3). See 33.102(f) for special rules 
regarding bid protests. See 3.104–7 for 
administrative remedies relating to 
contracts. 
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(a) An official who knowingly fails to 
comply with the requirements of 3.104–
3 is subject to the penalties and admin-
istrative action set forth in subsection 
27(e) of the Act. 

(b) An offeror who engages in em-
ployment discussion with an official 
subject to the restrictions of 3.104–3, 
knowing that the official has not com-
plied with 3.104–3(c)(1), is subject to the 
criminal, civil, or administrative pen-
alties set forth in subsection 27(e) of 
the Act. 

(c) An official who refuses to termi-
nate employment discussions (see 
3.104–5) may be subject to agency ad-
ministrative actions under 5 CFR 
2635.604(d) if the official’s disqualifica-
tion from participation in a particular 
procurement interferes substantially 
with the individual’s ability to perform 
assigned duties. 

[67 FR 13059, Mar. 20, 2002]

3.104–9 Contract clauses. 

In solicitations and contracts for 
other than commercial items that ex-
ceed the simplified acquisition thresh-
old, insert the clauses at— 

(a) 52.203–8, Cancellation, Rescission, 
and Recovery of Funds for Illegal or 
Improper Activity; and 

(b) 52.203–10, Price or Fee Adjustment 
for Illegal or Improper Activity. 

[67 FR 13059, Mar. 20, 2002]

Subpart 3.2—Contractor Gratuities 
to Government Personnel

3.201 Applicability. 

This subpart applies to all executive 
agencies, except that coverage con-
cerning exemplary damages applies 
only to the Department of Defense (10 
U.S.C. 2207).

3.202 Contract clause. 

The contracting officer shall insert 
the clause at 52.203–3, Gratuities, in so-
licitations and contracts with a value 
exceeding the simplified acquisition 
threshold, except those for personal 
services and those between military de-
partments or defense agencies and for-
eign governments that do not obligate 

any funds appropriated to the Depart-
ment of Defense. 

[61 FR 39200, July 26, 1996]

3.203 Reporting suspected violations 
of the Gratuities clause. 

Agency personnel shall report sus-
pected violations of the Gratuities 
clause to the contracting officer or 
other designated official in accordance 
with agency procedures. The agency re-
porting procedures shall be published 
as an implementation of this section 
3.203 and shall clearly specify— 

(a) What to report and how to report 
it; and 

(b) The channels through which re-
ports must pass, including the function 
and authority of each official des-
ignated to review them.

3.204 Treatment of violations. 

(a) Before taking any action against 
a contractor, the agency head or a des-
ignee shall determine, after notice and 
hearing under agency procedures, 
whether the contractor, its agent, or 
another representative, under a con-
tract containing the Gratuities 
clause— 

(1) Offered or gave a gratuity (e.g., an 
entertainment or gift) to an officer, of-
ficial, or employee of the Government; 
and 

(2) Intended by the gratuity to obtain 
a contract or favorable treatment 
under a contract (intent generally 
must be inferred). 

(b) Agency procedures shall afford 
the contractor an opportunity to ap-
pear with counsel, submit documentary 
evidence, present witnesses, and con-
front any person the agency presents. 
The procedures should be as informal 
as practicable, consistent with prin-
ciples of fundamental fairness. 

(c) When the agency head or designee 
determines that a violation has oc-
curred, the Government may— 

(1) Terminate the contractor’s right 
to proceed; 

(2) Initiate debarment or suspension 
measures as set forth in subpart 9.4; 
and 

(3) Assess exemplary damages, if the 
contract uses money appropriated to 
the Department of Defense.
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Subpart 3.3—Reports of Suspected 
Antitrust Violations

3.301 General. 
(a) Practices that eliminate competi-

tion or restrain trade usually lead to 
excessive prices and may warrant 
criminal, civil, or administrative ac-
tion against the participants. Exam-
ples of anticompetitive practices are 
collusive bidding, follow-the-leader 
pricing, rotated low bids, collusive 
price estimating systems, and sharing 
of the business. 

(b) Contracting personnel are an im-
portant potential source of investiga-
tive leads for antitrust enforcement 
and should therefore be sensitive to in-
dications of unlawful behavior by 
offerors and contractors. Agency per-
sonnel shall report, in accordance with 
agency regulations, evidence of sus-
pected antitrust violations in acquisi-
tions for possible referral to (1) the At-
torney General under 3.303 and (2) the 
agency office responsible for con-
tractor debarment and suspension 
under subpart 9.4. 

[48 FR 42108, Sept. 19, 1983, as amended at 50 
FR 1727, Jan. 11, 1985; 50 FR 52429, Dec. 23, 
1985]

3.302 Definitions. 
As used in this subpart—
Identical bids means bids for the same 

line item that are determined to be 
identical as to unit price or total line 
item amount, with or without the ap-
plication of evaluation factors (e.g., 
discount or transportation cost). 

Line item means an item of supply or 
service, specified in a solicitation, that 
the offeror must separately price. 

[49 FR 12974, Mar. 30, 1984, as amended at 66 
FR 2127, Jan. 10, 2001; 67 FR 13055, Mar. 20, 
2002]

3.303 Reporting suspected antitrust 
violations. 

(a) Agencies are required by 41 U.S.C. 
253b(i) and 10 U.S.C. 2305(b)(9) to report 
to the Attorney General any bids or 
proposals that evidence a violation of 
the antitrust laws. These reports are in 
addition to those required by subpart 
9.4. 

(b) The antitrust laws are intended to 
ensure that markets operate competi-

tively. Any agreement or mutual un-
derstanding among competing firms 
that restrains the natural operation of 
market forces is suspect. Paragraph (c) 
below identifies behavior patterns that 
are often associated with antitrust vio-
lations. Activities meeting the descrip-
tions in paragraph (c) are not nec-
essarily improper, but they are suffi-
ciently questionable to warrant noti-
fying the appropriate authorities, in 
accordance with agency procedures. 

(c) Practices or events that may evi-
dence violations of the antitrust laws 
include— 

(1) The existence of an industry price 
list or price agreement to which contrac-
tors refer in formulating their offers; 

(2) A sudden change from competitive 
bidding to identical bidding; 

(3) Simultaneous price increases or 
follow-the-leader pricing; 

(4) Rotation of bids or proposals, so 
that each competitor takes a turn in 
sequence as low bidder, or so that cer-
tain competitors bid low only on some 
sizes of contracts and high on other 
sizes; 

(5) Division of the market, so that 
certain competitors bid low only for 
contracts let by certain agencies, or for 
contracts in certain geographical 
areas, or on certain products, and bid 
high on all other jobs; 

(6) Establishment by competitors of a 
collusive price estimating system; 

(7) The filing of a joint bid by two or 
more competitors when at least one of 
the competitors has sufficient tech-
nical capability and productive capac-
ity for contract performance; 

(8) Any incidents suggesting direct 
collusion among competitors, such as 
the appearance of identical calculation 
or spelling errors in two or more com-
petitive offers or the submission by one 
firm of offers for other firms; and 

(9) Assertions by the employees, 
former employees, or competitors of 
offerors, that an agreement to restrain 
trade exists. 

(d) Identical bids shall be reported 
under this section if the agency has 
some reason to believe that the bids re-
sulted from collusion. 
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(e) For offers from foreign contrac-
tors for contracts to be performed out-
side the United States, contracting of-
ficers may refer suspected collusive of-
fers to the authorities of the foreign 
government concerned for appropriate 
action. 

(f) Agency reports shall be addressed 
to the Attorney General, U.S. Depart-
ment of Justice, Washington, DC 20530, 
Attention: Assistant Attorney General, 
Antitrust Division, and shall include— 

(1) A brief statement describing the 
suspected practice and the reason for 
the suspicion; and 

(2) The name, address, and telephone 
number of an individual in the agency 
who can be contacted for further infor-
mation. 

(g) Questions concerning this report-
ing requirement may be communicated 
by telephone directly to the Office of 
the Assistant Attorney General, Anti-
trust Division. 

[48 FR 42108, Sept. 19, 1983, as amended at 49 
FR 12974, Mar. 30, 1984; 50 FR 1727, Jan. 11, 
1985; 50 FR 52429, Dec. 23, 1985; 55 FR 25526, 
June 21, 1990; 65 FR 36030, June 6, 2000]

Subpart 3.4—Contingent Fees
3.400 Scope of subpart. 

This subpart prescribes policies and 
procedures that restrict contingent fee 
arrangements for soliciting or obtain-
ing Government contracts to those per-
mitted by 10 U.S.C. 2306(b) and 41 
U.S.C. 254(a).

3.401 Definitions. 
As used in this subpart— 
Bona fide agency, means an estab-

lished commercial or selling agency, 
maintained by a contractor for the pur-
pose of securing business, that neither 
exerts nor proposes to exert improper 
influence to solicit or obtain Govern-
ment contracts nor holds itself out as 
being able to obtain any Government 
contract or contracts through im-
proper influence. 

Bona fide employee, means a person, 
employed by a contractor and subject 
to the contractor’s supervision and 
control as to time, place, and manner 
of performance, who neither exerts nor 
proposes to exert improper influence to 
solicit or obtain Government contracts 
nor holds out as being able to obtain 

any Government contract or contracts 
through improper influence. 

Contingent fee, means any commis-
sion, percentage, brokerage, or other 
fee that is contingent upon the success 
that a person or concern has in secur-
ing a Government contract. 

Improper influence, means any influ-
ence that induces or tends to induce a 
Government employee or officer to 
give consideration or to act regarding a 
Government contract on any basis 
other than the merits of the matter. 

[48 FR 42108, Sept. 19, 1983, as amended at 66 
FR 2127, Jan. 10, 2001]

3.402 Statutory requirements. 

Contractors’ arrangements to pay 
contingent fees for soliciting or obtain-
ing Government contracts have long 
been considered contrary to public pol-
icy because such arrangements may 
lead to attempted or actual exercise of 
improper influence. In 10 U.S.C. 2306(b) 
and 41 U.S.C. 254(a), Congress affirmed 
this public policy but permitted cer-
tain exceptions. These statutes— 

(a) Require in every negotiated con-
tract a warranty by the contractor 
against contingent fees; 

(b) Permit, as an exception to the 
warranty, contingent fee arrangements 
between contractors and bona fide em-
ployees or bona fide agencies; and 

(c) Provide that, for breach or viola-
tion of the warranty by the contractor, 
the Government may annul the con-
tract without liability or deduct from 
the contract price or consideration, or 
otherwise recover, the full amount of 
the contingent fee.

3.403 Applicability. 

This subpart applies to all contracts. 
Statutory requirements for negotiated 
contracts are, as a matter of policy, ex-
tended to sealed bid contracts. 

[48 FR 42108, Sept. 19, 1983, as amended at 50 
FR 1727, Jan. 11, 1985; 50 FR 52429, Dec. 23, 
1985]

3.404 Contract clause. 

The contracting officer shall insert 
the clause at 52.203–5, Covenant 
Against Contingent Fees, in all solici-
tations and contracts exceeding the 
simplified acquisition threshold, other 
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than those for commercial items (see 
parts 2 and 12). 

[61 FR 39188, July 26, 1996]

3.405 Misrepresentations or violations 
of the Covenant Against Contingent 
Fees. 

(a) Government personnel who sus-
pect or have evidence of attempted or 
actual exercise of improper influence, 
misrepresentation of a contingent fee 
arrangement, or other violation of the 
Covenant Against Contingent Fees 
shall report the matter promptly to 
the contracting officer or appropriate 
higher authority in accordance with 
agency procedures. 

(b) When there is specific evidence or 
other reasonable basis to suspect one 
or more of the violations in paragraph 
(a) above, the chief of the contracting 
office shall review the facts and, if ap-
propriate, take or direct one or more of 
the following, or other, actions: 

(1) If before award, reject the bid or 
proposal. 

(2) If after award, enforce the Govern-
ment’s right to annul the contract or 
to recover the fee. 

(3) Initiate suspension or debarment 
action under subpart 9.4. 

(4) Refer suspected fraudulent or 
criminal matters to the Department of 
Justice, as prescribed in agency regula-
tions. 

[48 FR 42108, Sept. 19, 1983. Redesignated at 
61 FR 39188, July 26, 1996]

3.406 Records. 

For enforcement purposes, agencies 
shall preserve any specific evidence of 
one or more of the violations in 
3.405(a), together with all other perti-
nent data, including a record of actions 
taken. Contracting offices shall not re-
tire or destroy these records until it is 
certain that they are no longer needed 
for enforcement purposes. If the origi-
nal record is maintained in a central 
file, a copy must be retained in the 
contract file. 

[48 FR 42108, Sept. 19, 1983. Redesignated and 
amended at 61 FR 39188, July 26, 1996]

Subpart 3.5—Other Improper 
Business Practices

3.501 Buying-in.

3.501–1 Definition. 

Buying-in as used in this section, 
means submitting an offer below an-
ticipated costs, expecting to— 

(1) Increase the contract amount 
after award (e.g., through unnecessary 
or excessively priced change orders); or 

(2) Receive follow-on contracts at ar-
tificially high prices to recover losses 
incurred on the buy-in contract. 

[48 FR 42108, Sept. 19, 1983, as amended at 66 
FR 2127, Jan. 10, 2001]

3.501–2 General. 

(a) Buying-in may decrease competi-
tion or result in poor contract perform-
ance. The contracting officer must 
take appropriate action to ensure buy-
ing-in losses are not recovered by the 
contractor through the pricing of (1) 
change orders or (2) follow-on contracts 
subject to cost analysis. 

(b) The Government should minimize 
the opportunity for buying-in by seek-
ing a price commitment covering as 
much of the entire program concerned 
as is practical by using— 

(1) Multiyear contracting, with a re-
quirement in the solicitation that a 
price be submitted only for the total 
multiyear quantity; or 

(2) Priced options for additional 
quantities that, together with the firm 
contract quantity, equal the program 
requirements (see subpart 17.2). 

(c) Other safeguards are available to 
the contracting officer to preclude re-
covery of buying-in losses (e.g., amorti-
zation of nonrecurring costs (see 15.408, 
Table 15–2, paragraph A., column (2) 
under ‘‘Formats for Submission of Line 
Item Summaries) and treatment of un-
reasonable price quotations (see 15.405). 

48 FR 42108, Sept. 19, 1983, as amended at 62 
FR 51270, Sept. 30, 1997]

3.502 Subcontractor kickbacks.

3.502–1 Definitions. 

As used in this section— 
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Kickback, means any money, fee, 
commission, credit, gift, gratuity, 
thing of value, or compensation of any 
kind which is provided, directly or in-
directly, to any prime contractor, 
prime contractor employee, subcon-
tractor, or subcontractor employee for 
the purpose of improperly obtaining or 
rewarding favorable treatment in con-
nection with a prime contract or in 
connection with a subcontract relating 
to a prime contract. 

Person, means a corporation, partner-
ship, business association of any kind, 
trust, joint-stock company, or indi-
vidual. 

Prime contract, means a contract or 
contractual action entered into by the 
United States for the purpose of ob-
taining supplies, materials, equipment, 
or services of any kind. 

Prime Contractor, means a person who 
has entered into a prime contract with 
the United States. 

Prime Contractor employee, as used in 
this section, means any officer, part-
ner, employee, or agent of a prime con-
tractor. 

Subcontract, means a contract or 
contractural action entered into by a 
prime contractor or subcontractor for 
the purpose of obtaining supplies, ma-
terials, equipment, or service of any 
kind under a prime contract. 

Subcontractor, (1) means any person, 
other than the prime contractor, who 
offers to furnish or furnishes any sup-
plies, materials, equipment, or services 
of any kind under a prime contract or 
a subcontract entered into in connec-
tion with such prime contract, and (2) 
includes any person who offers to fur-
nish or furnishes general supplies to 
the prime contractor or a higher tier 
subcontractor. 

Subcontractor employee, as used in this 
section, means any officer, partner, 
employee, or agent of a subcontractor. 

[52 FR 6121, Feb. 27, 1987, as amended at 53 
FR 34226, Sept. 2, 1988; 66 FR 2127, Jan. 10, 
2001]

EDITORIAL NOTE: At 66 FR 2127, Jan. 10, 
2001, as amended at 66 FR 14260, Mar. 9, 2001, 
§ 3.502–1 was amended by redesignating para-
graphs (a) and (b) as (1) and (2). There are no 
designated paragraphs (a) and (b) in § 3.502–1.

3.502–2 Subcontractor kickbacks. 
The Anti-Kickback Act of 1986 (41 

U.S.C. 51–58) was passed to deter sub-
contractors from making payments 
and contractors from accepting pay-
ments for the purpose of improperly 
obtaining or rewarding favorable treat-
ment in connection with a prime con-
tract or a subcontract relating to a 
prime contract. The Act— 

(a) Prohibits any person from— 
(1) Providing, attempting to provide, 

or offering to provide any kickback; 
(2) Soliciting, accepting, or attempt-

ing to accept any kickbacks; or 
(3) Including, directly or indirectly, 

the amount of any kickback in the 
contract price charged by a subcon-
tractor to a prime contractor or a 
higher tier subcontractor or in the con-
tract price charged by a prime con-
tractor to the United States. 

(b) Imposes criminal penalties on any 
person who knowingly and willfully en-
gages in the prohibited conduct ad-
dressed in paragraph (a) of this sub-
section. 

(c) Provides for the recovery of civil 
penalties by the United States from 
any person who knowingly engages in 
such prohibited conduct and from any 
person whose employee, subcontractor, 
or subcontractor employee provides, 
accepts, or charges a kickback. 

(d) Provides that— 
(1) The contracting officer may offset 

the amount of a kickback against mon-
ies owed by the United States to the 
prime contractor under the prime con-
tract to which such kickback relates; 

(2) The contracting officer may di-
rect a prime contractor to withhold 
from any sums owed to a subcontract 
under a subcontractor of the prime 
contract the amount of any kickback 
which was or may be offset against the 
prime contractor under subparagraph 
(d)(1) of this subsection; and 

(3) An offset under subparagraph 
(d)(1) or a direction under subpara-
graph (d)(2) of this subsection is a 
claim by the Government for the pur-
poses of the Contract Disputes Act of 
1978. 

(e) Authorizes contracting officers to 
order that sums withheld under sub-
paragraph (d)(2) of this subsection be 
paid to the contracting agency, or if 
the sum has already been offset against 
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the prime contractor, that it be re-
tained by the prime contractor. 

(f) Requires the prime contractor to 
notify the contracting officer when the 
withholding under subparagraph (d)(2) 
of this subsection has been accom-
plished unless the amount withheld has 
been paid to the Government. 

(g) Requires a prime contractor or 
subcontractor to report in writing to 
the inspector general of the con-
tracting agency, the head of the con-
tracting agency if the agency does not 
have an inspector general, or the De-
partment of Justice any possible viola-
tion of the Act when the prime con-
tractor or subcontractor has reason-
able grounds to believe such violation 
may have occurred. 

(h) Provides that, for the purpose of 
ascertaining whether there has been a 
violation of the Act with respect to 
any prime contract, the General Ac-
counting Office and the inspector gen-
eral of the contracting agency, or a 
representative of such contracting 
agency designated by the head of such 
agency if the agency does not have an 
inspector general, shall have access to 
and may inspect the facilities and 
audit the books and records, including 
any electronic data or records, of any 
prime contractor or subcontractor 
under a prime contract awarded by 
such agency. 

(i) Requires each contracting agency 
to include in each prime contract ex-
ceeding $100,000 for other than commer-
cial items (see part 12), a requirement 
that the prime contractor shall— 

(1) Have in place and follow reason-
able procedures designed to prevent 
and detect violations of the Act in its 
own operations and direct business re-
lationships (e.g., company ethics rules 
prohibiting kickbacks by employees, 
agents, or subcontractors; education 
programs for new employees and sub-
contractors, explaining policies about 
kickbacks, related company procedures 
and the consequences of detection; pro-
curement procedures to minimize the 
opportunity for kickbacks; audit proce-
dures designed to detect kickbacks; 
periodic surveys of subcontractors to 
elicit information about kickbacks; 
procedures to report kickbacks to law 
enforcement officials; annual declara-
tions by employees of gifts or gratu-

ities received from subcontractors; an-
nual employee declarations that they 
have violated no company ethics rules; 
personnel practices that document un-
ethical or illegal behavior and make 
such information available to prospec-
tive employers); and 

(2) Cooperate fully with any Federal 
agency investigating a possible viola-
tion of the Act. 

(j) Notwithstanding paragraph (i) of 
this subsection, a prime contractor 
shall cooperate fully with any Federal 
government agency investigating a 
violation of Section 3 of the Anti-Kick-
back Act of 1986 (41 U.S.C. 51–58). 

[52 FR 6121, Feb. 27, 1987; 52 FR 9989, Mar. 27, 
1987, as amended at 53 FR 34226, Sept. 2, 1988; 
60 FR 48235, Sept. 18, 1995; 61 FR 39191, July 
26, 1996; 62 FR 235, Jan. 2, 1997]

3.502–3 Contract clause. 

The contracting officer shall insert 
the clause at 52.203–7, Anti-Kickback 
Procedures, in solicitations and con-
tracts exceeding the simplified acquisi-
tion threshold, other than those for 
commercial items (see part 12). 

[60 FR 48235, Sept. 18, 1995, as amended at 61 
FR 39190, July 26, 1996]

3.503 Unreasonable restrictions on 
subcontractor sales.

3.503–1 Policy. 

10 U.S.C. 2402 and 41 U.S.C. 253(g) re-
quire that subcontractors not be unrea-
sonably precluded from making direct 
sales to the Government of any sup-
plies or services made or furnished 
under a contract. However, this does 
not preclude contractors from assert-
ing rights that are otherwise author-
ized by law or regulation. 

[50 FR 35475, Aug. 30, 1985, and 51 FR 27116, 
July 29, 1986]

3.503–2 Contract clause. 

The contracting officer shall insert 
the clause at 52.203–6, Restrictions on 
Subcontractor Sales to the Govern-
ment, in solicitations and contracts ex-
ceeding the simplified acquisition 
threshold. For the acquisition of com-
mercial items, the contracting officer 
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shall use the clause with its Alternate 
I. 

[60 FR 48235, Sept. 18, 1995, as amended at 61 
FR 39190, July 26, 1996]

Subpart 3.6—Contracts With Gov-
ernment Employees or Orga-
nizations Owned or Controlled 
by Them

3.601 Policy. 
(a) Except as specified in 3.602, a con-

tracting officer shall not knowingly 
award a contract to a Government em-
ployee or to a business concern or 
other organization owned or substan-
tially owned or controlled by one or 
more Government employees. This pol-
icy is intended to avoid any conflict of 
interest that might arise between the 
employees’ interests and their Govern-
ment duties, and to avoid the appear-
ance of favoritism or preferential 
treatment by the Government toward 
its employees. 

(b) For purposes of this subpart, spe-
cial Government employees (as defined 
in 18 U.S.C. 202) performing services as 
experts, advisors, or consultants, or as 
members of advisory committees, are 
not considered Government employees 
unless— 

(1) The contract arises directly out of 
the individual’s activity as a special 
Government employee; 

(2) In the individual’s capacity as a 
special Government employee, the in-
dividual is in a position to influence 
the award of the contract; or 

(3) Another conflict of interest is de-
termined to exist. 

[55 FR 34864, Aug. 24, 1990]

3.602 Exceptions. 
The agency head, or a designee not 

below the level of the head of the con-
tracting activity, may authorize an ex-
ception to the policy in 3.601 only if 
there is a most compelling reason to do 
so, such as when the Government’s 
needs cannot reasonably be otherwise 
met.

3.603 Responsibilities of the con-
tracting officer. 

(a) Before awarding a contract, the 
contracting officer shall obtain an au-
thorization under 3.602 if— 

(1) The contracting officer knows, or 
has reason to believe, that a prospec-
tive contractor is one to which award 
is otherwise prohibited under 3.601; and 

(2) There is a most compelling reason 
to make an award to that prospective 
contractor. 

(b) The contracting officer shall com-
ply with the requirements and guid-
ance in subpart 9.5 before awarding a 
contract to an organization owned or 
substantially owned or controlled by 
Government employees.

Subpart 3.7—Voiding and 
Rescinding Contracts

SOURCE: 51 FR 27116, July 29, 1986, unless 
otherwise noted.

3.700 Scope of subpart. 

(a) This subpart prescribes Govern-
mentwide policies and procedures for 
exercising discretionary authority to 
declare void and rescind contracts in 
relation to which— 

(1) There has been a final conviction 
for bribery, conflict of interest, disclo-
sure or receipt of contractor bid or pro-
posal information or source selection 
information in exchange for a thing of 
value or to give anyone a competitive 
advantage in the award of a Federal 
agency procurement contract, or simi-
lar misconduct; or 

(2) There has been an agency head de-
termination that contractor bid or pro-
posal information or source selection 
information has been disclosed or re-
ceived in exchange for a thing of value, 
or for the purpose of obtaining or giv-
ing anyone a competitive advantage in 
the award of a Federal agency procure-
ment contract. 

(b) This subpart does not prescribe 
policies or procedures for, or govern 
the exercise of, any other remedy 
available to the Government with re-
spect to such contracts, including but 
not limited to, the common law right 
of avoidance, rescission, or cancella-
tion. 

[51 FR 27116, July 29, 1986, as amended at 62 
FR 232, Jan. 2, 1997]

3.701 Purpose. 

This subpart provides— 
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(a) An administrative remedy with 
respect to contracts in relation to 
which there has been— 

(1) A final conviction for bribery, 
conflict of interest, disclosure or re-
ceipt of contractor bid or proposal in-
formation or source selection informa-
tion in exchange for a thing of value or 
to give anyone a competitive advan-
tage in the award of a Federal agency 
procurement contract, or similar mis-
conduct; or 

(2) An agency head determination 
that contractor bid or proposal infor-
mation or source selection information 
has been disclosed or received in ex-
change for a thing of value, or for the 
purpose of obtaining or giving anyone a 
competitive advantage in the award of 
a Federal agency procurement con-
tract; and 

(b) A means to deter similar mis-
conduct in the future by those who are 
involved in the award, performance, 
and administration of Government con-
tracts. 

[62 FR 232, Jan. 2, 1997]

3.702 Definition. 
Final conviction means a conviction, 

whether entered on a verdict or plea, 
including a plea of nolo contendere, for 
which sentence has been imposed.

3.703 Authority. 
(a) Section 1(e) of Pub. L. 87–849, 18 

U.S.C. 218 (the Act), empowers the 
President or the heads of executive 
agencies acting under regulations pre-
scribed by the President, to declare 
void and rescind contracts and other 
transactions enumerated in the Act, in 
relation to which there has been a final 
conviction for bribery, conflict of in-
terest, or any other violation of Chap-
ter 11 of Title 18 of the United States 
Code (18 U.S.C. 201–224). Executive 
Order 12448, November 4, 1983, delegates 
the President’s authority under the 
Act to the heads of the executive agen-
cies and military departments. 

(b) Subsection 27(e)(3) of the Office of 
Federal Procurement Policy Act (41 
U.S.C. 423) (the OFPP Act), as amend-
ed, requires a Federal agency, upon re-
ceiving information that a contractor 
or a person has engaged in conduct 
constituting a violation of subsection 
27 (a) or (b) of the OFPP Act, to con-

sider recission of a contract with re-
spect to which— 

(1) The contractor or someone acting 
for the contractor has been convicted 
for an offense punishable under sub-
section 27(e)(1) of the OFPP Act; or 

(2) The head of the agency, or des-
ignee, has determined, based upon a 
preponderance of the evidence, that the 
contractor or someone acting for the 
contractor has engaged in conduct con-
stituting such an offense. 

[51 FR 27116, July 29, 1986, as amended at 62 
FR 232, Jan. 2, 1997]

3.704 Policy. 

(a) In cases in which there is a final 
conviction for any violation of 18 
U.S.C. 201–224 involving or relating to 
contracts awarded by an agency, the 
agency head or designee shall consider 
the facts available and, if appropriate, 
may declare void and rescind con-
tracts, and recover the amounts ex-
pended and property transferred by the 
agency in accordance with the policies 
and procedures of this subpart. 

(b) Since a final conviction under 18 
U.S.C. 201–224 relating to a contract 
also may justify the conclusion that 
the party involved is not presently re-
sponsible, the agency should consider 
initiating debarment proceedings in ac-
cordance with subpart 9.4, Debarment, 
Suspension, and Ineligibility, if debar-
ment has not been initiated or is not in 
effect at the time the final conviction 
is entered. 

(c) If there is a final conviction for an 
offense punishable under subsection 
27(e) of the OFPP Act, or if the head of 
the agency, or designee, has deter-
mined, based upon a preponderance of 
the evidence, that the contractor or 
someone acting for the contractor has 
engaged in conduct constituting such 
an offense, then the head of the con-
tracting activity shall consider, in ad-
dition to any other penalty prescribed 
by law or regulation— 

(1) Declaring void and rescinding con-
tracts, as appropriate, and recovering 
the amounts expended under the con-
tracts by using the procedures at 3.705 
(see 3.104–7); and 
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(2) Recommending the initiation of 
suspension or debarment proceedings 
in accordance with subpart 9.4. 

[51 FR 27116, July 29, 1986, as amended at 62 
FR 232, Jan. 2, 1997; 67 FR 13063, Mar. 20, 2002]

3.705 Procedures. 

(a) Reporting. The facts concerning 
any final conviction for any violation 
of 18 U.S.C. 201–224 involving or relat-
ing to agency contracts shall be re-
ported promptly to the agency head or 
designee for that official’s consider-
ation. The agency head or designee 
shall promptly notify the Civil Divi-
sion, Department of Justice, that an 
action is being considered under this 
subpart. 

(b) Decision. Following an assessment 
of the facts, the agency head or des-
ignee may declare void and rescind 
contracts with respect to which a final 
conviction has been entered, and re-
cover the amounts expended and the 
property transferred by the agency 
under the terms of the contracts in-
volved. 

(c) Decision-making process. Agency 
procedures governing the voiding and 
rescinding decision-making process 
shall be as informal as is practicable, 
consistent with the principles of funda-
mental fairness. As a minimum, how-
ever, agencies shall provide the fol-
lowing: 

(1) A notice of the proposed action to 
declare void and rescind the contract 
shall be made in writing and sent by 
certified mail, return receipt re-
quested. 

(2) A thirty calendar day period after 
receipt of the notice, for the contractor 
to submit pertinent information before 
any final decision is made. 

(3) Upon request made within the pe-
riod for submission of pertinent infor-
mation, an opportunity shall be af-
forded for a hearing at which witnesses 
may be presented, and any witness the 
agency presents may be confronted. 
However, no inquiry shall be made re-
garding the validity of a conviction. 

(4) If the agency head or designee de-
cides to declare void and rescind the 
contracts involved, that official shall 
issue a written decision which— 

(i) States that determination; 

(ii) Reflects consideration of the fair 
value of any tangible benefits received 
and retained by the agency; and 

(iii) States the amount due, and the 
property to be returned, to the agency. 

(d) Notice of proposed action. The no-
tice of the proposed action, as a min-
imum shall— 

(1) Advise that consideration is being 
given to declaring void and rescinding 
contracts awarded by the agency, and 
recovering the amounts expended and 
property transferred therefor, under 
the provisions of 18 U.S.C. 218; 

(2) Specifically identify the contracts 
affected by the action; 

(3) Specifically identify the offense or 
final conviction on which the action is 
based; 

(4) State the amounts expended and 
property transferred under each of the 
contracts involved, and the money and 
the property demanded to be returned; 

(5) Identify any tangible benefits re-
ceived and retained by the agency 
under the contract, and the value of 
those benefits, as calculated by the 
agency; 

(6) Advise that pertinent information 
may be submitted within 30 calendar 
days after receipt of the notice, and 
that, if requested within that time, a 
hearing shall be held at which wit-
nesses may be presented and any wit-
ness the agency presents may be con-
fronted; and 

(7) Advise that action shall be taken 
only after the agency head or designee 
issues a final written decision on the 
proposed action. 

(e) Final agency decision. The final 
agency decision shall be based on the 
information available to the agency 
head or designee, including any perti-
nent information submitted or, if a 
hearing was held, presented at the 
hearing. If the agency decision declares 
void and rescinds the contract, the 
final decision shall specify the 
amounts due and property to be re-
turned to the agency, and reflect con-
sideration of the fair value of any tan-
gible benefits received and retained by 
the agency. Notice of the decision shall 
be sent promptly by certified mail, re-
turn receipt requested. Rescission of 
contracts under the authority of the 
Act and demand for recovery of the 
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amounts expended and property trans-
ferred therefor, is not a claim within 
the meaning of the Contract Disputes 
Act of 1978 (CDA), 41 U.S.C. 601–613, or 
part 33. Therefore, the procedures re-
quired by the CDA and the FAR for the 
issuance of a final contracting officer 
decision are not applicable to final 
agency decisions under this subpart, 
and shall not be followed. 

[51 FR 27116, July 29, 1986, as amended at 62 
FR 232, Jan. 2, 1997]

Subpart 3.8—Limitations on the 
Payment of Funds to Influence 
Federal Transactions

SOURCE: 55 FR 3190, Jan. 30, 1990, unless 
otherwise noted.

3.800 Scope of subpart. 
This subpart prescribes policies and 

procedures implementing section 319 of 
the Department of the Interior and Re-
lated Agencies Appropriations Act, 
Pub. L. 101–121, which added a new sec-
tion 1352 to title 31 U.S.C., entitled 
‘‘Limitation on use of appropriated 
funds to influence certain Federal con-
tracting and financial transactions’’ 
(the Act).

3.801 Definitions. 
Agency, as used in this section, 

means an executive agency as defined 
in 2.101. 

Covered Federal action, as used in this 
section, means any of the following 
Federal actions: 

(a) The awarding of any Federal con-
tract. 

(b) The making of any Federal grant. 
(c) The making of any Federal loan. 
(d) The entering into of any coopera-

tive agreement. 
(e) The extension, continuation, re-

newal, amendment, or modification of 
any Federal contract, grant, loan, or 
cooperative agreement. 

Indian tribe and tribal organization, as 
used in this section, have the meaning 
provided in section 4 of the Indian Self-
Determination and Education Assist-
ance Act (25 U.S.C. 450B) and include 
Alaskan Natives. 

Influencing or attempting to influence, 
as used in this section, means making, 
with the intent to influence, any com-

munication to or appearance before an 
officer or employee of any agency, a 
Member of Congress, an officer or em-
ployee of Congress, or an employee of a 
Member of Congress in connection with 
any covered Federal action. 

Local government, as used in this sec-
tion, means a unit of government in a 
State and, if chartered, established, or 
otherwise recognized by a State for the 
performance of a governmental duty, 
including a local public authority, a 
special district, an intrastate district, 
a council of governments, a sponsor 
group representative organization, and 
any other instrumentality of a local 
government. 

Officer or employee of an agency, as 
used in this section, includes the fol-
lowing individuals who are employed 
by an agency: 

(a) An individual who is appointed to 
a position in the Government under 
title 5, United States Code, including a 
position under a temporary appoint-
ment; 

(b) A member of the uniformed serv-
ices, as defined in subsection 101(3), 
title 37, United States Code; 

(c) A special Government employee, 
as defined in section 202, title 18, 
United States Code; and 

(d) An individual who is a member of 
a Federal advisory committee, as de-
fined by the Federal Advisory Com-
mittee Act, title 5, United States Code, 
appendix 2. 

Person, as used in this section, means 
an individual, corporation, company, 
association, authority, firm, partner-
ship, society, State, and local govern-
ment, regardless of whether such enti-
ty is operated for profit or not for prof-
it. This term excludes an Indian tribe, 
tribal organization, or any other In-
dian organization with respect to ex-
penditures specifically permitted by 
other Federal law. 

Reasonable compensation, as used in 
this section, means, with respect to a 
regularly employed officer or employee 
of any person, compensation that is 
consistent with the normal compensa-
tion for such officer or employee for 
work that is not furnished to, not fund-
ed by, or not furnished in cooperation 
with the Federal Government. 
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Reasonable payment, as used in this 
section, means, with respect to profes-
sional and other technical services, a 
payment in an amount that is con-
sistent with the amount normally paid 
for such services in the private sector. 

Recipient, as used in this section, in-
cludes the contractor and all sub-
contractors. This term excludes an In-
dian tribe, tribal organization, or any 
other Indian organization with respect 
to expenditures specifically permitted 
by other Federal law. 

Regularly employed, as used in this 
section, means, with respect to an offi-
cer or employee of a person requesting 
or receiving a Federal contract, an offi-
cer or employee who is employed by 
such person for at least 130 working 
days within 1 year immediately pre-
ceding the date of the submission that 
initiates agency consideration of such 
person for receipt of such contract. An 
officer or employee who is employed by 
such person for less than 130 working 
days within 1 year immediately pre-
ceding the date of the submission that 
initiates agency consideration of such 
person shall be considered to be regu-
larly employed as soon as he or she is 
employed by such person for 130 work-
ing days. 

State, as used in this section, means a 
State of the United States, the District 
of Columbia, the Commonwealth of 
Puerto Rico, a territory or possession 
of the United States, an agency or in-
strumentality of a State, and multi-
State, regional, or interstate entity 
having governmental duties and pow-
ers.

3.802 Prohibitions. 
(a) Section 1352 of title 31, United 

States Code, among other things, pro-
hibits a recipient of a Federal contract, 
grant, loan, or cooperative agreement 
from using appropriated funds to pay 
any person for influencing or attempt-
ing to influence an officer or employee 
of any agency, a Member of Congress, 
an officer or employee of Congress, or 
an employee of a Member of Congress 
in connection with any of the following 
covered Federal actions: the awarding 
of any Federal contract; the making of 
any Federal grant; the making of any 
Federal loan; the entering into of any 
cooperative agreement; or, the modi-

fication of any Federal contract, grant, 
loan, or cooperative agreement. 

(b) The Act also requires offerors to 
furnish a declaration consisting of both 
a certification and a disclosure. These 
requirements are contained in the pro-
vision at 52.203–11, Certification and 
Disclosure Regarding Payments to In-
fluence Certain Federal Transactions, 
and the clause at 52.203–12, Limitation 
on Payments to Influence Certain Fed-
eral Transactions. 

(1) By signing its offer, an offeror cer-
tifies that no appropriated funds have 
been paid or will be paid in violation of 
the prohibitions in 31 U.S.C. 1352. 

(2) The disclosure shall identify if 
any funds other than Federal appro-
priated funds (including profit or fee 
received under a covered Federal ac-
tion) have been paid, or will be paid, to 
any person for influencing or attempt-
ing to influence an officer or employee 
of any agency, a Member of Congress, 
an officer or employee of Congress, or 
an employee of a Member of Congress 
in connection with a Federal contract, 
grant, loan, or cooperative agreement. 

(c) The prohibitions of the Act do not 
apply under the following conditions: 

(1) Agency and legislative liaison by 
own employees. (i) The prohibition on 
the use of appropriated funds, in para-
graph (a) of this section, does not apply 
in the case of a payment of reasonable 
compensation made to an officer or 
employee of a person requesting or re-
ceiving a covered Federal action if the 
payment is for agency and legislative 
liaison activities not directly related 
to a covered Federal action. 

(ii) For purposes of subdivision 
(c)(1)(i) of this section, providing any 
information specifically requested by 
an agency or Congress is permitted at 
any time. 

(iii) The following agency and legis-
lative liaison activities are permitted 
at any time where they are not related 
to a specific solicitation for any cov-
ered Federal action: 

(A) Discussing with an agency the 
qualities and characteristics (including 
individual demonstrations) of the per-
son’s products or services, conditions 
or terms of sale, and service capabili-
ties; 

(B) Technical discussions and other 
activities regarding the application or 
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adaptation of the person’s products or 
services for an agency’s use. 

(iv) The following agency and legisla-
tive liaison activities are permitted 
where they are prior to formal solicita-
tion of any covered Federal action: 

(A) Providing any information not 
specifically requested but necessary for 
an agency to make an informed deci-
sion about initiation of a covered Fed-
eral action; 

(B) Technical discussions regarding 
the preparation of an unsolicited pro-
posal prior to its official submission; 
and 

(C) Capability presentations by per-
sons seeking awards from an agency 
pursuant to the provisions of the Small 
Business Act, as amended by Pub. L. 
95–507, and subsequent amendments. 

(v) Only those activities expressly 
authorized by subparagraph (c)(1) of 
this section are permitted under this 
section. 

(2) Professional and technical services. 
(i) The prohibition on the use of appro-
priated funds, in paragraph (a) of this 
section, does not apply in the case of— 

(A) Payment of reasonable compensa-
tion made to an officer or employee of 
a person requesting or receiving a cov-
ered Federal action or an extension, 
continuation, renewal, amendment, or 
modification of a covered Federal ac-
tion, if payment is for professional or 
technical services rendered directly in 
the preparation, submission, or nego-
tiation of any bid, proposal, or applica-
tion for that Federal action or for 
meeting requirements imposed by or 
pursuant to law as a condition for re-
ceiving that Federal action; 

(B) Any reasonable payment to a per-
son, other than an officer or employee 
of a person requesting or receiving a 
covered Federal action, if the payment 
is for professional or technical services 
rendered directly in the preparation, 
submission, r negotiation of any bid, 
proposal, or application for that Fed-
eral action, or for meeting require-
ments imposed by or pursuant to law 
as a condition for receiving that Fed-
eral action. Persons other than officers 
or employees of a person requesting or 
receiving a covered Federal action in-
clude consultants and trade associa-
tions. 

(ii) For purposes of subdivision 
(c)(2)(i) of this section, ‘‘professional 
and technical services’’ shall be limited 
to advice and analysis directly apply-
ing any professional or technical dis-
cipline. For example, drafting of a 
legal document accompanying a bid or 
proposal by a lawyer is allowable. 
Similarly, technical advice provided by 
an engineer on the performance or 
operational capability of a piece of 
equipment rendered directly in the ne-
gotiation of a contract is allowable. 
However, communications with the in-
tent to influence made by a profes-
sional (such as a licensed lawyer) or a 
technical person (such as a licensed ac-
countant) are not allowable under this 
section unless they provide advice and 
analysis directly applying their profes-
sional or technical expertise and unless 
the advice or analysis is rendered di-
rectly and solely in the preparation, 
submission or negotiation of a covered 
Federal action. Thus, for example, 
communications with the intent to in-
fluence made by a lawyer that do not 
provide legal advice or analysis di-
rectly and solely related to the legal 
aspects of his or her client’s proposal, 
but generally advocate one proposal 
over another are not allowable under 
this section because the lawyer is not 
providing professional legal services. 
Similarly, communications with the 
intent to influence made by an engi-
neer providing an engineering analysis 
prior to the preparation or submission 
of a bid or proposal are not allowable 
under this section since the engineer is 
providing technical services but not di-
rectly in the preparation, submission 
or negotiation of a covered Federal ac-
tion. 

(iii) Requirements imposed by or pur-
suant to law as a condition for receiv-
ing a covered Federal award include 
those required by law or regulation and 
any other requirements in the actual 
award documents 

(iv) Only those services expressly au-
thorized by subdivisions (c)(2)(i) (A) 
and (B) of this section are permitted 
under this section. 

(v) The reporting requirements of 
3.803(a) shall not apply with respect to 
payments of reasonable compensation 
made to regularly employed officers or 
employees of a person.

VerDate 0ct<09>2002 11:17 Oct 21, 2002 Jkt 197193 PO 00000 Frm 00059 Fmt 8010 Sfmt 8010 Y:\SGML\197193T.XXX 197193T



60

48 CFR Ch. 1 (10–1–02 Edition)3.803

3.803 Certification and disclosure. 

(a) Any contractor who requests or 
receives a Federal contract exceeding 
$100,000 shall submit the certification 
and disclosures required by the provi-
sion at 52.203–11, Certification and Dis-
closure Regarding Payments to Influ-
ence Certain Federal Transactions, 
with its offer. Disclosures under this 
section shall be submitted to the con-
tracting officer using OMB standard 
form LLL, Disclosure of Lobbying Ac-
tivities. 

(b) The contractor shall file a disclo-
sure form at the end of each calendar 
quarter in which there occurs any 
event that materially affects the accu-
racy of the information contained in 
any disclosure form previously filed by 
such person under paragraph (a) of this 
section. An event that materially af-
fects the accuracy of the information 
reported includes— 

(1) A cumulative increase of $25,000 or 
more in the amount paid or expected to 
be paid for influencing or attempting 
to influence a covered Federal action; 
or 

(2) A change in the person(s) or indi-
vidual(s) influencing or attempting to 
influence a covered Federal action; or 

(3) A change in the officer(s), em-
ployee(s), or Member(s) of Congress 
contacted to influence or attempt to 
influence a covered Federal action. 

(c) The contractor shall require the 
submittal of a certification, and if re-
quired, a disclosure form, by any per-
son who requests or receives any sub-
contract exceeding $100,000 under the 
Federal contract. 

(d) All subcontractor disclosure 
forms (but not certifications), shall be 
forwarded from tier to tier until re-
ceived by the prime contractor. The 
prime contractor shall submit all dis-
closure forms to the contracting officer 
at the end of the calendar quarter in 
which the disclosure form is submitted 
by the subcontractor. Each subcon-
tractor certification shall be retained 
in the subcontract file of the awarding 
contractor. 

[55 FR 3190, Jan. 30, 1990, as amended at 55 
FR 38516, Sept. 18, 1990]

3.804 Policy. 
(a) The contracting officer shall ob-

tain certifications and disclosures as 
required by the provision at 52.203–11, 
Certification and Disclosure Regarding 
Payments to Influence Certain Federal 
Transactions, prior to the award of any 
contract exceeding $100,000. 

(b) The contracting officer shall for-
ward a copy of all contractor disclo-
sures furnished pursuant to the clause 
at 52.203–12, Limitation on Payments 
to Influence Certain Federal Trans-
actions, to the official designated in 
accordance with agency procedures, for 
subsequent submission to Congress. 
The original of the disclosure shall be 
retained in the contract file.

3.805 Exemption. 
The Secretary of Defense may ex-

empt, on a case-by-case basis, a cov-
ered Federal action from the prohibi-
tions of this section whenever the Sec-
retary determines, in writing, that 
such an exemption is in the national 
interest. The Secretary shall transmit 
a copy of such exemption to Congress 
immediately after making such a de-
termination.

3.806 Processing suspected violations. 
Suspected violations of the require-

ments of the Act shall be referred to 
the official designated in agency proce-
dures.

3.807 Civil penalties. 
Agencies shall impose and collect 

civil penalties pursuant to the provi-
sions of the Program Fraud and Civil 
Remedies Act, 31 U.S.C. 3803 (except 
subsection (c)), 3804–3808, and 3812, inso-
far as the provisions therein are not in-
consistent with the requirements of 
this subpart. 

[55 FR 3190, Jan. 30, 1990, as amended at 67 
FR 6120, Feb. 8, 2002]

3.808 Solicitation provision and con-
tract clause. 

(a) The provision at 52.203–11, Certifi-
cation and Disclosure Regarding Pay-
ments to Influence Certain Federal 
Transactions, shall be included in so-
licitations expected to exceed $100,000. 

(b) The clause at 52.203–12, Limita-
tion on Payments to Influence Certain 
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Federal Transactions, shall be included 
in solicitations and contracts expected 
to exceed $100,000.

Subpart 3.9—Whistleblower Pro-
tections for Contractor Em-
ployees

SOURCE: 60 FR 37776, July 21, 1995, unless 
otherwise noted.

3.900 Scope of subpart. 
This subpart implements 10 U.S.C. 

2409 and 41 U.S.C. 251, et seq., as amend-
ed by Sections 6005 and 6006 of the Fed-
eral Acquisition Streamlining Act of 
1994 (Pub. L. 103–355).

3.901 Definitions. 
As used in this supart— 
Authorized official of an agency means 

an officer or employee responsible for 
contracting, program management, 
audit, inspection, investigation, or en-
forcement of any law or regulation re-
lating to Government procurement or 
the subject matter of the contract. 

Authorized official of the Department of 
Justice means any person responsible 
for the investigation, enforcement, or 
prosecution of any law or regulation. 

Inspector General means an Inspector 
General appointed under the Inspector 
General Act of 1978, as amended. In the 
Department of Defense that is the DOD 
Inspector General. In the case of an ex-
ecutive agency that does not have an 
Inspector General, the duties shall be 
performed by an official designated by 
the head of the executive agency. 

[48 FR 42108, Sept. 19, 1983, as amended at 66 
FR 2127, Jan. 10, 2001]

3.902 Applicability. 
This subpart applies to all Govern-

ment contracts.

3.903 Policy. 
Government contractors shall not 

discharge, demote or otherwise dis-
criminate against an employee as a re-
prisal for disclosing information to a 
Member of Congress, or an authorized 
official of an agency or of the Depart-
ment of Justice, relating to a substan-
tial violation of law related to a con-
tract (including the competition for or 
negotiation of a contract).

3.904 Procedures for filing complaints. 

(a) Any employee of a contractor who 
believes that he or she has been dis-
charged, demoted, or otherwise dis-
criminated against contrary to the pol-
icy in 3.903 may file a complaint with 
the Inspector General of the agency 
that awarded the contract. 

(b) The complaint shall be signed and 
shall contain— 

(1) The name of the contractor; 
(2) The contract number, if known; if 

not, a description reasonably sufficient 
to identify the contract(s) involved; 

(3) The substantial violation of law 
giving rise to the disclosure; 

(4) The nature of the disclosure giv-
ing rise to the discriminatory act; and 

(5) The specific nature and date of 
the reprisal.

3.905 Procedures for investigating 
complaints. 

(a) Upon receipt of a complaint, the 
Inspector General shall conduct an ini-
tial inquiry. If the Inspector General 
determines that the complaint is frivo-
lous or for other reasons does not merit 
further investigation, the Inspector 
General shall advise the complainant 
that no further action on the com-
plaint will be taken. 

(b) If the Inspector General deter-
mines that the complaint merits fur-
ther investigation, the Inspector Gen-
eral shall notify the complainant, con-
tractor, and head of the contracting ac-
tivity. The Inspector General shall con-
duct an investigation and provide a 
written report of findings to the head 
of the agency or designee. 

(c) Upon completion of the investiga-
tion, the head of the agency or des-
ignee shall ensure that the Inspector 
General provides the report of findings 
to— 

(1) The complainant and any person 
acting on the complainant’s behalf; 

(2) The contractor alleged to have 
committed the violation; and 

(3) The head of the contracting activ-
ity. 

(d) The complainant and contractor 
shall be afforded the opportunity to 
submit a written response to the report 
of findings within 30 days to the head 
of the agency or designee. Extensions 
of time to file a written response may 
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be granted by the head of the agency or 
designee. 

(e) At any time, the head of the agen-
cy or designee may request additional 
investigative work be done on the com-
plaint.

3.906 Remedies. 
(a) If the head of the agency or des-

ignee determines that a contractor has 
subjected one of its employees to a re-
prisal for providing information to a 
Member of Congress, or an authorized 
official of an agency or of the Depart-
ment of Justice, the head of the agency 
or designee may take one or more of 
the following actions: 

(1) Order the contractor to take af-
firmative action to abate the reprisal. 

(2) Order the contractor to reinstate 
the person to the position that the per-
son held before the reprisal, together 
with the compensation (including back 
pay), employment benefits, and other 
terms and conditions of employment 
that would apply to the person in that 
position if the reprisal had not been 
taken. 

(3) Order the contractor to pay the 
complainant an amount equal to the 
aggregate amount of all costs and ex-
penses (including attorneys’ fees and 
expert witnesses’ fees) that were rea-
sonably incurred by the complainant 
for, or in connection with, bringing the 
complaint regarding the reprisal. 

(b) Whenever a contractor fails to 
comply with an order, the head of the 
agency or designee shall request the 
Department of Justice to file an action 
for enforcement of such order in the 
United States district court for a dis-
trict in which the reprisal was found to 
have occurred. In any action brought 
under this section, the court may grant 
appropriate relief, including injunctive 
relief and compensatory and exemplary 
damages. 

(c) Any person adversely affected or 
aggrieved by an order issued under this 
section may obtain review of the or-
der’s conformance with the law, and 
this subpart, in the United States 
Court of Appeals for a circuit in which 
the reprisal is alleged in the order to 
have occurred. No petition seeking 
such review may be filed more than 60 
days after issuance of the order by the 
head of the agency or designee. Review 

shall conform to Chapter 7 of Title 5, 
United States Code.
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